FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 9/12/2023 BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

102363-4

FILED
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington
9/11/2023 1:08 PM

No. 84712-1-I

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION I, OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

CITY OF EDMONDS, a Washington Municipal Corporation,

Respondent,

v.

THE EDMONDS EBB TIDE ASSOCIATION OF APARTMENT OWNERS,

a Washington Nonprofit Corporation,

Petitioner.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

The Association of Apartment Owners of the Edmonds
Ebb Tide ("Ebb Tide") asks this Court to review the decision
terminating review set forth in Part B.

B. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

The Court of Appeals, Division I filed its published opinion in this case on August 21, 2023. A copy is in the Appendix.

C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. Did Division I's published opinion misapply the criteria for the justiciability of a UDJA action, in particular, where it failed to properly address whether a court could deliver a final, conclusive result as to a project whose plans were only 30% complete and numerous construction-related issues needed to be addressed?
- 2. Did Division I's published opinion contravene well-established cases on the principles for the interpretation of an easement where the court concluded that easement extended underground and was exclusive, when the easement did not so provide, ignoring extrinsic evidence that the parties in 1977 never intended the easement to permit a massive elevated walkway with pilings driven into the ground, for the exclusive use of the public, thereby destroying the views and beach access for a waterfront condominium?

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Division I's published opinion is predicated upon an abbreviated factual recitation that omits critical facts regarding the easement at issue here. Op. at 2-5.

For example, the opinion barely acknowledges that Ebb Tide is a 5-story, 25-unit *waterfront* condominium in Edmonds; that looks directly onto Puget Sound, with a common area beach-side patio for use by all residents; the patio sits above a bulkhead looking over the Ebb Tide's private sandy beach. CP 60. Ex. 125. Ebb Tide owners have direct access to the beach and shoreline by stepping over the bulkhead from the patio, never leaving the Ebb Tide property. RP 424-25. Historically, they anchored sailboats offshore and rowed boats directly to the beach. *Id*.

Division I's opinion also ignores the sheer scale of the City's proposed elevated walkway, nowhere stating that although not final in design, the walkway will require at least *seven* large steel 30" diameter foundation pier/piling structures pounded into the property to support a horizontal walkway ten

feet wide (the full width of the easement) and running across the entire 154-foot width of the Ebb Tide beach. *Compare* Ex. 1, 19, 21.

The proposed walkway, extending over the entire easement area, will eliminate Ebb Tide owners' right to cross the beach, ex. 21 at 9-10, and will be a continuation of its "waterfront promenade," with no beach-level public access. *Id.*; Ex. 3. It will have a solid wall-like appearance viewed from the Ebb Tide patio. Ex. 19, 21. The walkway will be higher than that patio floor, meaning Ebb Tide owners sitting on their patio, and all first-floor condominium units, will no longer see the waterfront, but only the walkway wall with people walking several feet higher and looking down on them. Ex. 21 at 12-14. The elevated walkway will deprive Ebb Tide owners of any use of the easement area. Ex. 19, 21, 138a at 14.

But perhaps the most profound omission in Division I's opinion is its neglect of the full 46-year history of the City's walkway actions. Most critically in June 1977, a City-

at this site. The City's structural engineers prepared a comprehensive report, which Division I ignored in its opinion. That 1977 report noted strong opposition to any walkway, *id.* at 16, and largely agreed with Ebb Tide's former owners that an elevated walkway "would be visually objectionable and interfere with Ebb Tide's beach access. *Id.* That report *rejected* the possibility of an elevated walkway on the beach, *id.*, in favor of a beach surface walkway. *Id.* Ultimately, the City abandoned even its 1977 effort at securing a beach walkway.

In 1983, Ebb Tide's new owners conveyed an easement to the City for \$1. Ex. 1. (See Appendix.) That easement did not identify any contemplated "public improvements, facilities, utilities, and necessary appurtenances," nor did it expressly confer an exclusive right to the City, allowing it to exclude Ebb Tide from using the easement area. *Id.* It made no reference to any City right to construct anything *under* the surface of the property. *Id.*

Division I's recitation of what the parties intended in 1983 is incomplete, particularly given the City's 1977 report. Op. at 2, 12-13. The City's attorney who negotiated the easement in 1983, Scott Snyder, testified that the easement negotiations arose from trespass complaints by Ebb Tide owners and the City's desire to address that concern with an easement linking the Citycontrolled beaches to the north and south of the Ebb Tide's beach. Ex. 20 at 11. Any walkway was supposed to be "some sort of firm footing for seniors, moms with baby buggies, and other people to cross the tide flat and also to have a designated pathway." Id. at 15-16. Snyder testified that Ebb Tide wanted pedestrians away from the seawall so they could use their patio with reasonable privacy, id. at 13, without interruption of their views, or disruption of their use of the common areas and views. *Id.* at 17. Critically, Ebb Tide did not want "a large fishing peerlike [sic] structure blocking their view." Id.¹ The easement

¹ The nearby Edmonds fishing pier, was built around 1978 had a deck level varying from 16 to 21 feet. Ex. 39; CP 1764-67.

contained no plan for any specific improvements and the language regarding improvements was merely a "place holder" for the future, according to Snyder, a point again ignored by Division I. *Id.* at 15. Nothing about the easement's negotiation contemplated exclusive use by the City or the destruction of Ebb Tide's historic water views or beach access.

Sixteen years later, in 1999, a proposal for an elevated walkway in the easement surfaced for the first time when the City's Planning Board proposed such an elevated walkway and the City Council preliminarily approved it. Ex. 9, 10, 11, 12, & 13. The elevated walkway mirrored the elevated walkway proposed in this lawsuit. Ex. 36. The City retained the same engineering firm that prepared the 1977 report, ex. 36, to prepare reports to the Board and to make presentations to the City. Ex. 10, 11, 13. Ebb Tide continued to oppose an elevated walkway.

_

Division I's opinion makes no note of this intent to avoid a huge elevated project.

Ex. 42 at 2. *See also*, Ex. 40 (Ebb Tide opposition).² Based on Ebb Tide's opposition and impracticality of the proposed walkway within the easement's height limitation, the City once again terminated any plan for an elevated walkway. Ex. 13 at 16. Division I acknowledges the City's abandonment of its 1999 effort, op. at 4, but offers no explanation of why Ebb Tide opposed the elevated walkway, if the Court's interpretation of the \$1 easement as contemplating an elevated walkway is correct.

In 2016, seventeen years later, the City yet again proposed a massive, elevated walkway that is the subject of the City's action for declaratory relief.

Below, the trial court ruled that the easement was ambiguous, but the parties intended some sort of "improved walkway." CP 1576-77, 3050. But after a bench trial, the trial

² This opposition, consistent with the opposition to an elevated walkway in 1977, renders implausible any notion that the 1983 easement was intended by Ebb Tide as grantor to relinquish views/beach access for the sum of \$1.

court concluded that Ebb Tide intended to grant an exclusive easement across its entire private beach, cutting off its own access, as well as the resulting negative impacts on views and privacy. CP 75-76. The court entered a declaratory judgment that the "Planned Improvements," a conceptual design for the elevated walkway, initially annexed to the City's complaint, CP 3874-77; ex. 19, was the basis for a final resolution of the parties' dispute, although only 30% complete; the court ruled that any final design had to be "materially consistent with the Planned Improvements." CP 64-67, 69-71.

- E. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED
 - (1) <u>Division I's Published Opinion Contravenes This</u>
 <u>Court's Decisions on a Justiciable Controversy in a</u>
 <u>Declaratory Judgment Action</u>

Before declaratory relief may be granted under the Uniform Declaratory Judgment Act, RCW 7.24 ("UDJA"), a threshold issue is whether the controversy is justiciable. Division I's published opinion is contrary to opinions of this Court and the

Court of Appeals on UDJA justiciability, meriting review. RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2).

Justiciability is a threshold issue. *Coppernoll v. Reed*, 155 Wn.2d 290, 300, 119 P.3d 318 (2005). This Court has defined a "justiciable controversy" under a four-part test. *To-Ro Shows v. Collins*, 144 Wn.2d 403, 411, 27 P.3d 1149 (2001) (*quoting Diversified Industries Development Corp. v. Ripley*, 82 Wn.2d 811, 815, 514 P.2d 137 (1973)). The fourth factor – whether a final, conclusive result can be ordered – is at stake here.

But rather than confront the justiciability elements this Court has repeatedly articulated in UDJA actions, Division I's opinion pivots to a discussion at length of ripeness. Op. at 5-7. Only belatedly does it address the fourth justiciability element. *Id.* at 7-8.

Washington law has not described in detail when a final, conclusive result is established.³ Regarding that fourth

³ This Court has been clear that advisory opinions must be avoided in declaratory judgment actions. *Walker v. Munro*, 124

justiciability element, in *Bloome v. Haverly*, 154 Wn. App. 129, 141-42, 225 P.3d 330 (2010), Division III held that where there were no firm building plans for a project, declaratory relief was inappropriate because no final conclusive relief was yet possible. In its opinion, Division I asserts that *Bloome* is "distinguished easily," op. at 9, stating that the Planned Improvements are enough to guide the trial court. But that bald assertion does not come to grips with the fact that *more litigation*, not a final, complete resolution of the controversy may be necessary to address the City's needed construction easement and the IBC safety rail question, and whether the City's final project, predicated upon building plans only 30% complete, will be "materially consistent" with the Planned Improvements is a question fraught with potential controversy. *Bloome* was clear – no building plans, no final, complete resolution of the parties' controversy for UDJA relief. 154 Wn. App. at 141-42 (in the

Wn.2d 402, 414, 879 P.2d 920 (1994).

absence of building plans addressing the construction of a downhill building without interference with the uphill owners' views, no *conclusive* resolution of the parties' controversy was possible).

This need for final, complete relief is consistent with this Court's treatment of relief for specific performance where specificity as to what must be performed for equitable relief to be granted is essential. In *Kruse v. Hemp*, 121 Wn.2d 715, 722, 853 P.2d 1373 (1993), for example, this Court held that there must be clear and unequivocal evidence of the terms and character of the contract before specific performance is awarded. The evidence must leave "no doubt." *Id.*⁴ Like justiciability under the UDJA, a court must be able to afford *conclusive relief* to the party seeking specific performance.

Division I's published opinion is contrary to *Bloome*; the

⁴ Division I dismissed this analysis without substantively addressing it; instead, it simply ignored the analogy falling back on the literal fact alone that specific performance is not an issue. Op. at 9 n.2.

trial court's decision could not result in a final, conclusive resolution of the parties' dispute. Division I offers no firm ground in its opinion as to when a decision can be final, conclusive. Moreover, it simply ignores relevant facts. For example, the City's "Planned Improvements" for the walkway were about 30% complete. CP 1438. It was also undisputed that the City's walkway project would require use of Edd Tide property for construction that was outside the terms of the easement, CP 1598.⁵

⁵ The City admitted in discovery that it would have to condemn a temporary construction easement for an undetermined additional portion of the Ebb Tide beach for an as yet undetermined period of time to facilitate construction of the elevated walkway, including the pile-driving of at least seven steel pilings to a depth of up to fifty feet. CP 109, 191; Ex. 138a. at 2-4.

Ironically, the trial court denied the Ebb Tide's summary judgment motion *raising the construction easement* issue as a basis for denying declaratory relief, as "unripe." RP 21. However, if that issue was unripe, the City's request for declaratory relief based on a merely "conceptual" design was then clearly unripe as well.

An additional question was whether the project would require safety railings required by the International Building Code ("IBC");⁶ if they were mandated, the walkway would violate the easement's 17.00 MLLW height limitation. CP 1120, 3327-46 (safety railings); RP 234 (walkway with railings would be 25 MLLW). If required, safety rails would add approximately another 42 inches to the height of the walkway, well above the easement's height limitation. RP 234; CP 1120. Division I's opinion glided past all these facts.

Because a final, conclusive decision based on a merely 30% complete conceptual design for which no permits have been obtained and with attendant construction issues could not be rendered, the controversy here was not justiciable and Division I

⁶ Ebb Tide planned to provide expert testimony that safety railings were IBC-mandated by Washington law, and, therefore, the proposed elevated walkway would be above the easement's height limitation. CP 307-19, 3327-46; *see* WAC 51-50 et seq. However, the City moved in *limine* to exclude any mention of the IBC at trial as "irrelevant." CP 1432-37. The trial court granted the motion. RP 21-43; CP 223-25.

erred in entering a declaratory judgment. Review is merited. RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2).

(2) <u>Division I's Published Opinion Contravenes</u>
<u>Washington Law on Multiple Levels as to the</u>
Easement's Interpretation

In addressing an easement, this Court has historically looked to the parties' intent, focusing on the express language of the easement. Zobrist v. Culp, 95 Wn.2d 556, 560, 627 P.2d 1308 (1981); City of Seattle v. Nazarenus, 60 Wn.2d 657, 665, 374 P.2d 1014 (1962). Moreover, this Court has construed easements strictly in accordance with their terms to give effect to the parties' intent. Sanders v. City of Seattle, 160 Wn.2d 198, 214-15, 156 P.3d 874 (2007). A servient estate should not be "subjected to a greater burden than that originally contemplated by the easement grant." Rupert v. Gunter, 31 Wn. App. 27, 31, 640 P.2d 36 (1982); Green v. Lupo, 32 Wn. App. 318, 324, 647 P.2d 51 (1982). When an easement does not state that it is exclusive as against use by the grantor, by law, it is nonexclusive. Johnson v. Lake Cushman Maint. Co., 5 Wn. App. 2d 765, 78485, 425 P.3d 560 (2018).

If ambiguity exists in an easement, extrinsic evidence is admissible to show the intentions of the original parties, the circumstances of the property when the easement was conveyed, and the practical interpretation given the parties' prior conduct or admissions. *Nazarenus*, 60 Wn.2d at 665.

Motions practice below resolved some of the issues as to this easement.⁷ On summary judgment, the trial court ruled the easement was valid and enforceable, but ruled on Ebb Tide's motion that the easement was ambiguous, requiring extrinsic evidence to analyze the parties' intent. CP 3051. A later summary judgment order determined that the City's contracted surveyors "intended the height limitation in the easement to be calculated as 1.84 feet above the finished first floor elevation of the Ebb Tide." CP 2235-36. A third motion determined that the easement allowed "the construction of an improved walkway in

⁷ The orders are in the Appendix.

the easement area." CP 1576-77. The order did not say "elevated walkway," but "improved walkway," which would include the beach-level boardwalk contemplated by the City in 1977. *Id*.

Division I's published opinion was flawed in three key respects as to the easement's scope.

(a) <u>The Easement Does Not Extend</u> <u>Underground</u>

The omission of language allowing construction or installation of structures below the easement area is crucial, as this Court ruled in *Coleman v. Everett*, 194 Wash. 47, 49-50, 76 P.2d 1007 (1938). There, the Court specifically held that an easement containing language that it extended "along and under" a property did not mean that it could be applied *above* the property. *Accord*, *Commonwealth ex rel. Bell Tel. Co. v. Warwick*, 40 A. 93, 94 (Pa. 1898) ("The grant however of authority to run and maintain wires "over and through" the streets, did not include permission to lay them under, below or beneath.") (quoted in *Coleman*, 194 Wash. at 50).

Because the easement was drafted by the City, 8 if it intended to construct an elevated walkway with support pilings installed underground or at least have a "placeholder" for such a structure, it should have provided for access *under* the easement area. See, e.g., Murphy v. Hendrickson, 8 Wn. App. 2d 150, 156, 437 P.3d 736, review denied, 193 Wn.2d 1034 (2019) (easement stating: "An easement for ingress, egress and utilities over, across and under a strip of land...") (emphasis added); Rainier View Court HOA v. Zenker, 157 Wn. App. 710, 716, 238 P.3d 1217 (2010), review denied, 170 Wn.2d 1030 (2011) (easement stating: "We hereby convey an easement for ingress, egress and utilities over, *under*, and across the private roads as shown hereon") (underlining added). The easement in this case explicitly says: "over, through, across and upon," not "under,"

⁸ As the drafter of the easement, any ambiguities are construed against the City. *Guy Stickney, Inc. v. Underwood*, 67 Wn.2d 824, 827, 410 P.2d 7 (1966). Division I avoids this rule by *sua sponte* overturning the trial court order finding the easement ambiguous. Op. at 14 n. 5.

not "below," and not "beneath." Ex. 1 at 1. The City's easement failed to contain such language.

Division I's analysis of *Coleman*, op. at 14-15, was simply wrong. Rather than address this Court's holding there, it avoided it. First, it effectively admits in two places in its opinion that the easement failed to give the City the right to build beneath the surface. Op. at 11 (no limit on depth), 14 (same). The easement placed no limit on depth because it never gave the City the right to build underground. As Division I acknowledged, op. at 11, the absence of enumerated authority, i.e., the right to build *under* the surface, means that the easement excluded it. Wash. Monumental & Cut Stone Co. v. Murphy, 81 Wash. 266, 270, 142 P. 665 (1914). Second, its effort to distinguish *Coleman* as "inapposite" makes little sense. This Court in Coleman held that in the absence of easement language providing for above the surface construction, such construction was foreclosed; the analysis is no different for language involving construction below the surface, as here. When Division I suggests that there is no conduct as yet from the City from which the parties' intent may be derived, as in *Coleman*, op. at 14-15, that is not true. The City's Planned Improvements contemplate pilings going 50 feet below the surface of the beach to support the elevated walkway, as the trial court noted, CP 75, and the City's plans provided. CP 3877.

Division I's published opinion is contrary to this Court's established authority because it ignores the easement's express language that nowhere extended it underground. Review is merited. RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2).

(b) The Easement Is Not Exclusive

Further, Division I again ignored the express easement language, concluding in a footnote that the easement gave the City what amounted to *exclusive* use of it. Op. at 15 n.6.

Washington recognizes two types of easements: exclusive and nonexclusive. *Johnson*, 5 Wn. App. 2d at 783-84. Easements are generally nonexclusive unless the easement includes clear and unambiguous language of exclusivity. *Id.* at 784-85 (citing *Latham v. Garner*, 673 P.2d 1048, 1051 (Ida.

1983)). The owner of a servient estate typically has the continuing right to use its land burdened by an easement. Unless an easement is exclusive, the owner of the servient estate may use the property as it chooses, so long as its use does not unreasonably interfere with the dominant estate's enjoyment of the easement. *Hayward v. Mason*, 54 Wash. 649, 652, 104 P. 139 (1909); *Cole v. Laverty*, 112 Wn. App. 180, 184, 49 P.3d 924 (2002).

Exclusive easements are generally *disfavored* because exclusivity "strips the servient estate owner of the right to use his land." *Latham*, 673 P.2d at 1050. This Court has held that an easement for ingress and egress without any exclusivity language is "simply an easement, and nothing more" and does not convey exclusive rights. *Hayward*, 54 Wash. at 651.

The City admitted the elevated walkway will effectively eliminate Ebb Tide's access to the shoreline from the Ebb Tide patio or from the shore to the patio, as has been usual and customary throughout Ebb Tide's existence. Ex. 138a. at 4; Ex.

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