FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 10/11/2023 2:30 PM BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

SUPREME COURT NO. 1023634

COURT OF APPEALS NO. 84712-1-I

CITY OF EDMONDS, a Washington Municipal Corporation

Respondent,

v.

THE EDMONDS EBB TIDE ASSOCIATION OF APARTMENT OWNERS, a Washington Nonprofit Corporation,

Petitioner.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Jeffrey B. Taraday, WSBA No. 28182 Beth R. Ford, WSBA No. 44208 Lighthouse Law Group PLLC 600 Stewart Street, Suite 400 Seattle, WA 98101

Telephone: (206) 273-7400 Fax: (206) 273-7401

Email: jeff@lighthouselawgroup.com beth@lighthouselawgroup.com

Attorneys for Respondent City of Edmonds

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

Petitioner appealed the trial court's Final Order and Judgment to the Court of Appeals. In that appeal, Petitioner argued that the trial court erred in granting declaratory relief: (1) in absence of a justiciable controversy; (2) in disregarding intrinsic and extrinsic evidence of intent; (3) because the Planned Improvements would create an exclusive use of a non-exclusive easement; and (4) because it effects an unconstitutional taking without just compensation. The Court of Appeals affirmed the trial court's award of declaratory relief in the City's favor in its Opinion.

IV. ARGUMENT: THE PETITION SHOULD BE DENIED

Petitioner has failed to demonstrate that the Court of Appeals' Opinion warrants review by the Supreme Court in accordance with RAP 13.4(b). While Petitioner disagrees with the Court of Appeals' analysis, it cannot show that the Court of Appeals' decision conflicts with case law.

This Petition should be denied.

A. Standard Of Review

A party seeking discretionary review by the Supreme Court of a Court of Appeals decision terminating review must file a petition for review demonstrating review is warranted under one of the four review considerations of RAP 13.4(b):

- (b) Considerations Governing Acceptance of Review. A petition for review will be accepted by the Supreme Court only:
- (1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; or
- (2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a published decision of the Court of Appeals; or
- (3) If a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved; or
- (4) If the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

RAP 13.4(b). Petitioner has failed to satisfy any of the review considerations of RAP 13.4(b), where it cannot demonstrate that the Court of Appeals' Opinion conflicts with a decision of the Washington Supreme Court or published decision of the Court of Appeals, or that it implicates an issue of substantial public interest.

B. Petitioner Has Failed To Show That The Decision Regarding Ripeness And Justiciability Is Inconsistent With A Supreme

Court Decision Under RAP 13.4(b)(1) Or A Published Decision Of The Court Of Appeals Under RAP 13.4(b)(2)

The Court of Appeals' decision does not conflict with <u>Bloome v. Haverly</u>, 154 Wn. App. 129, 225 P.3d 330 (2010), the only case where Petitioner alleges a conflict on the issue of justiciability under RAP 13.4(b). Rather, the Court of Appeals properly distinguished <u>Bloome</u> and rejected Petitioner's claim that the City's declaratory judgment action was nonjusticiable where the Planned Improvements design is not a final building plan. <u>Bloome</u> does not support Petitioner's argument that a 100% engineered design is necessary for a case to be justiciable.

In that case, Bloome brought a declaratory judgment action to construe a view covenant that burdened Bloome's downhill parcel in favor of Haverly's uphill parcel. <u>Bloome v. Haverly</u>, 154 Wn. App. 129, 133, 225 P.3d 330, 332 (2010). Bloome sought a judgment that the view covenant did not prohibit the construction of a house on the downhill parcel. <u>Id</u>. The court held that the record did not contain facts necessary to resolve the dispute, because "Bloome has not put forth any construction plan over which the parties have had the opportunity to litigate as to its conformance with the covenant." <u>Id</u>. at 141-142. In fact, "nothing in the record indicates that Bloome either planned or plans to construct a building on the downhill parcel." Id. at 137. Petitioner argues that <u>Bloome</u> stands for the proposition

that the building plan must be final in order to be justiciable—the case did not make that holding. The court merely held that "[i]n the absence of a dispute over whether *actual* building plans satisfy the covenant ..., a declaratory judgment ... would not conclusively settle the controversy between them." <u>Id</u>. at 142 (emphasis added). The Planned Improvements in the present case are those "actual building plans" that were missing in Bloome.

The Court of Appeals properly held that <u>Bloome</u> is distinguishable from the present case, where the Planned Improvements design is an engineered design that shows the material structural components of the walkway, where the City has already sought and obtained certain regulatory permits for the Planned Improvements based upon that design, and where the City plans to construct the walkway in accordance with the Planned Improvements. As the Court of Appeals held, these facts distinguish <u>Bloome</u> from the present matter.

Instead of demonstrating that the Court of Appeals' holding contravened other case law on justiciability, Petitioner makes a strained analogy to the issue of specific performance in <u>Kruse v. Hemp</u>, 121 Wn.2d 715, 853 P.2d 1373 (1993). An analogy, by its nature, cannot create a conflict of law and therefore cannot support a petition for review. The <u>Kruse</u> case does not relate to either justiciability or declaratory judgment actions,

and therefore is inapposite.

In sum, the Court of Appeals correctly distinguished <u>Bloome</u> and held that the City's declaratory judgment was justiciable. Petitioner has cited to no other case that allegedly contradicts the Court of Appeals' decision as required by RAP 13.4(b)(1) or (2). As such, this Petition should be denied.

C. Petitioner Has Failed To Show That The Decision Regarding Easement Interpretation Is Inconsistent With A Supreme Court Decision Under RAP 13.4(b)(1) Or A Published Decision Of The Court Of Appeals Under RAP 13.4(b)(2)

While Petitioner claims several errors regarding easement interpretation, it fails to support those claims with contrary case law as required by RAP 13.4(b).

1. The Court Of Appeals Properly Held That The Easement Allowed For Underground Construction

On the issue of underground easement rights, the Petition for Review never expressly alleges a conflict with any decision of the Supreme Court or published decision of the Court of Appeals under RAP 13.4(b). The closest it gets to the RAP 13.4 conflict standard is to critique the Court of Appeals' analysis and distinguishing of Coleman v. Everett, incorrectly claiming that Coleman stands for the proposition that, in the absence of explicit language granting the right to construct in a certain area, such construction is foreclosed. That is not the holding of Coleman, which was

correctly distinguished by the Court of Appeals.

In that case, the defendant City of Everett was granted an easement for "the right to construct and maintain a pipe line or lines along and under a strip of land over and across the following described tract of land." Coleman v. City of Everett, 194 Wash. 47, 48, 76 P.2d 1007 (1938). The City of Everett thereafter laid a water line underground in the easement area, and then, years later, laid another water main above ground along the same strip of land. The Court determined that the operative language of the easement was "along and under," and spent the majority of the decision determining whether the term "along" encompassed "above." It held that it did not, in part, because of Everett's previous underground construction: "in its context, along must have been intended by the parties to carry merely its ordinary meaning of 'lengthwise,' or 'in a line with the length.' ... Our interpretation of the phrase is borne out by the fact that the original pipe line was laid under the surface of the land." Coleman, 194 Wash. at 49-50 (emphasis added). Coleman relied on Everett's past action of constructing underground as evidence of the parties' intent that underground pipelines alone were sufficient to fulfill the purpose of the easement.

In the present case, the City of Edmonds has not constructed any improvements on the Ebb Tide property thus far. If, *assuming arguendo*, the City had initially constructed a beach level boardwalk on the Ebb Tide

property and then subsequently sought to build the Planned Improvements, Coleman would have greater applicability. But in the absence of previous construction in the easement area, one cannot determine intent using the analysis in Coleman.

With respect to the portion of the decision that addresses underground support structures, Petitioner has failed to demonstrate that the Court of Appeals' Opinion conflicts with <u>Coleman</u> or any other case law under RAP 13.4(b)(1) or (2).

2. The Court Of Appeals Made No Ruling As To The Exclusivity Of The Easement

Next, Petitioner repeated its unsupported claim that the Court of Appeals (and the trial court before it) made a ruling as to the exclusivity of the Access Easement. Neither court has done so. And Petitioner's mischaracterization that the Court of Appeals' ruling "gave the City what amounted to exclusive use" of the easement area is similarly misleading. Because the Court of Appeals' decision does not treat the easement as exclusive, there can be no conflict with Johnson v. Lake Cushman Maint. Co., 5 Wn. App. 2d 765, 784-85, 425 P.3d 560, 570 (2018). Petitioner has again failed to satisfy the standard for review under RAP 13.4.

3. The Court Of Appeals Did Not *Sua Sponte* Overturn The Ruling Of The Trial Court As To Ambiguity

Petitioner further mischaracterizes the Decision in arguing that the

Court of Appeals *sua sponte* overturned the ruling of the trial court as to the ambiguity of the Access Easement. It didn't. The Court of Appeals specifically held: "While we disagree with the trial court's ruling that the Easement is ambiguous, we affirm the trial court's final judgment and order granting declaratory relief in the City's favor on additional grounds." Opinion, at 10. The Court of Appeals later stated: "... even if we were to agree with the trial court that the Easement is ambiguous with regard to depth, the result would be the same." Opinion, at 11.

The Court of Appeals' decision does not conflict with <u>Dalton M</u>, <u>LLC v. N. Cascade Tr. Servs.</u>, <u>Inc.</u>, 534 P.3d 339 (2023), for various reasons. First, <u>Dalton M</u> can be distinguished in terms of the development of the relevant issue at the trial court level. In the <u>Dalton M</u> case, after U.S. Bank foreclosed on Dalton M's property, Dalton M sued U.S. Bank to quiet title and for damages to slander of title, and prevailed on both claims. <u>Dalton M., LLC</u>, 534 P.3d at 342. The Court of Appeals reversed the slander of title claim (and the attorney fee award that went along with it), but *sua sponte* requested briefing on how else it could award attorney fees to Dalton M, including based on its own proposed legal theory of prelitigation bad faith conduct (a theory that neither party had briefed or argued to either the trial or appellate court). <u>Id</u>. at 342, 346. Then it *sua sponte* awarded attorney fees on that theory based on inferred facts not actually found by the trial

court. <u>Id</u>. at 342, 346, 349.

On appeal, the Supreme Court held that an appellate court may not raise a new issue *sua sponte* if the issue "is more like a whole new unpleaded claim depending on factual allegations that were never presented in or proved to the trial court." Dalton M., LLC, 534 P.3d at 343. This Court explained its reasoning: "Injection of a brand-new issue that is akin to an unpleaded claim at the appellate level creates problems for a reviewing court because the record will likely lack factual development related to that new issue." Id. at 349. This Court found the appellate court's decision problematic where "[i]n determining that U.S. Bank engaged in pretrial bad faith conduct beyond the trial court's findings, the Court of Appeals improperly engaged in its own fact-finding. It thereby deprived U.S. Bank of notice or the opportunity to present a defense to any allegation that it engaged in pretrial bad faith conduct." Id. at 350. By contrast, the question of ambiguity is a matter of law. Paradise Orchards Gen. P'ship v. Fearing, 122 Wn. App. 507, 517, 94 P.3d 372, 377 (2004). Furthermore, the parties had litigated the ambiguity of the Access Easement language at the trial court level, including cross-motions for summary judgment and oral argument on those motions. The record on the issue had been fully developed. The issue is not an unpleaded claim depending on factual allegations that were never presented to the trial court. The holding of <u>Dalton M</u> does not extend to these facts. So, there is no conflict between the Court of Appeals' decision and <u>Dalton M</u>.

Further, the ambiguity portion of the Court of Appeals' Opinion is dicta stated by the court in passing. Under RAP 12.1(b), the issue did not need to be considered to properly decide the case, where the Court of Appeals expressly acknowledged that "the result would be the same." The Court of Appeals did not err where it did not request additional briefing from the parties on an issue that had been previously briefed and which was not dispositive to the Court's Opinion. This dicta should not provide a basis to grant review under RAP 13.4.

Rather than ignoring extrinsic evidence, as Petitioner claims, the Court found substantial evidence in the record to support the trial court's findings. On appeal of a bench trial, the Court of Appeals' "review is limited to determining whether the trial court's factual findings are supported by substantial evidence and whether those findings support the trial court's conclusions of law." Yorkston v. Whatcom Cnty., 11 Wn. App. 2d 815, 831, 461 P.3d 392, 400 (2020). "If the standard is satisfied, a reviewing court will not substitute its judgment for that of the trial court even though it might have resolved a factual dispute differently." Sunnyside Valley Irrig. Dist., 149 Wn.2d 873, 879-880, 73 P.3d 369 (2003). The Court of Appeals found that there was substantial evidence in the record that the parties in 1983

intended an elevated walkway in the easement area, which requires the construction of underground pilings. RAP 13.4 does not contemplate review being granted to challenge the sufficiency of evidence; that dispute was resolved conclusively by the Court of Appeals. In order to seek review by this Court, Petitioner must demonstrate that the Court of Appeals' decision contravenes case law—it has not done so. Review by this Court is not warranted.

D. <u>Petitioner Has Failed To Show That The Petition Involves An</u> <u>Issue Of Substantial Public Interest Under RAP 13.4(b)(4)</u>

Last, Petitioner attempts to seek review of the Court of Appeals' decision because "it is a published opinion involving public easements" and "this Court has not addressed the interpretation of an easement for many years." Petition for Review, at 26. These claims alone do not justify review under RAP 13.4(b)(4).

Review is warranted in accordance with RAP 13.4(b)(4) if there is an issue of substantial public interest. "A decision that has the potential to affect a number of proceedings in the lower courts may warrant review as an issue of substantial public interest if review will avoid unnecessary litigation and confusion on a common issue." In re Flippo, 185 Wn.2d 1032, 380 P.3d 413, 414 (2016), citing State v. Watson, 155 Wn.2d 574, 577, 122 P.3d 903 (2005). Petitioner has failed to meet that standard here: the fact

that the Court has not reviewed the issue of easement interpretation supports

the argument that there is not confusion on a common issue that requires

clarity from the Court. Petitioner has also failed to demonstrate that there is

a risk of "additional litigation with attendant takings claims" where

Petitioner's takings claim was denied by both the trial court and Court of

Appeals. The Petition should be denied under RAP 13.4(b)(4).

V. CONCLUSION

There is no basis for review under RAP 13.4(b). The Court of

Appeals properly affirmed the trial court's Final Judgment and Order, and

its Decision did not conflict with any decision of the Washington Supreme

Court or Court of Appeals or implicate an issue of substantial public

interest. This Court should deny the Petition for Review.

This document contains 4,104 words, excluding the parts exempted

from the word count by RAP 18.17.